Case 5:17-cv-00157-JPB Document 3 Filed 06/02/17 Page 1 of 17 PagelD #: 73

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
FOR CLERMONT COUNTY, OHIO

VINCENT LUCAS,

P.O. Box 272

Amelia, OH 45102
Plaintiff,

V.

MONITRONICS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Serve registered agent:

C T Corporation System

1300 E 9th St.

Cleveland, OH 44114,

ALLIANCE SECURITY INC.
Serve registered agent:

National Registered Agents, Inc.
1300 E 9th St.

Cleveland, OH 44114,

DEFEND AMERICA, LLC
Serve officer:

Jessica T. Merrick

7649 Northaven Place

New Port Richey, FL 34655

JESSICA T. MERRICK
7649 Northaven Place
New Port Richey, FL 34655

RICK A. MERRICK
7649 Northaven Piace
New Port Richey, FL 34655

TYLER COON
address unknown

COMET MEDIA, INC.

Serve registered agent:

Agents And Corporations, Inc.
1201 Orange St

Case No 2017 CVH 00543 JUDGE MCBRIDE

COMPLAINT

1. Violation of the Federal Telephone
Consumer Protection Act (47 U.S.C. § 227, 47

CFR § 64.1200)

2. Violation of the Ohio Telemarketing Act

(Ohio Rev. Code § 109.87) and Ohio
Telephone Solicitation Act (Ohio Rev. Code §

4719)

3. Violation of the Ohio Consumer Sales
Practices Act (Ohio Rev. Code § 1345)

4. Invasion of privacy by unreasonable
intrusion

5. Pattern of corrupt activity (Ohio Rev. Code
§§ 2923.31 - .34)
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Ste. 600 One Commerce Center
Wilmington, DE 19801

LUCKY 7, INC PH

Serve registered agent:

Ohio Secretary of State

Attn: Paralegal Division — Service of
Process

180 E. Broad St., 16th Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

JOHN DOE COMPANY/COMPANIES
address unknown

Defendants.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the claims herein pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 2305.01.

This venue is appropriate because all the telephone calls described in the following paragraphs

were received in Clermont County, Ohio. There are questions of law common to each of the

Defendants.

2. In July 2002, Cincinnati Bell assigned the phone number (513) 947-1695 to my residential

telephone line in Amelia, Ohio. That phone number has been assigned to my residential phone

line ever since.

3. The phone number (513) 947-1695

(http://donotcall.gov) and has been since July 1, 2003.

www.classlawgroup.com

is on the national Do Not Call
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4. Thave not given the Defendants express invitation or permission to call me. I did not have an
"established business relationship” with any of the Defendants, as that term is defined in 47
U.S.C. § 227(a)(2) and 47 CFR § 64.1200(f)(4), prior to any of the telephone calls that are the
subject of this lawsuit.

5. Each call that is the subject of this lawsuit was made to my residential telephone line (513)
947-1695.

ILLEGAL TELEMARKETING CALLS BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE
DEFENDANTS

6. Since March 2015, I have received 51 illegal telemarketing calls by or on behalf of
Monitronics and Alliance Security.

7. On 3/10, 3/14, and 3/27 of 2015, Lucky 7 Inc, PH (“Lucky 7”) originated telemarketing calls
to my residential phone line. Lucky 7 was acting as an agent of Monitronics, and the calls were
made on behalf of Monitronics. The purpose of the calls was to sell me alarm monitoring
services by Monitronics.

8. On 5/6/15 and 5/13/15, I received telephone calls on behalf of Monitronics and Alliance
Security. My caller ID displayed the same originating telephone number during both calls. The
purpose of the calls was to sell me alarm monitoring services. The 5/13/15 call started with a
pre-recorded message offering to provide a “free” home alarm system. After answering a series
of questions, the interactive voice response system allowed me to speak with a live sales
representative. The sales representative said that he represents “Home Security Center” and the

installation of the security system was at “no cost”, but I would be required to pay Monitronics

www.classlawgroup.com



- Gase-5:4F-ev-0845~3PB—Bocument S—Fited 06162/t 7 —Pagedof T7-PagelD #. 70

for an alarm monitoring contract. The alarm system would be installed by Alliance Security.
The caller said that I could call him back at (888) 336-9616.

9. In truth, the company “Home Security Center” does not exist. “Home Security Center” is a
fictitious entity made up by Alliance Security and Monitronics,

10. The telephone number (888) 336-9616 was assigned to Defend America LLC on the date of
the call. Defend America LLC initiated the calls on 5/6 and 5/13/15.

11. Defend America LLC initiated the 5/6 and 5/13/15 calls on behalf of Alliance Security and
Monitronics. Defend America LLC was acting as an agent of Alliance Security and Monitronics
and within the scope of its authority as agent.

12. Jessica T. Merrick, Rick A. Merrick, and Tyler Coon were officers of Defend America LLC
on the date of the call.

13. Jessica T. Merrick, Rick A. Merrick, and Tyler Coon personally formulated, directed,
controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices of Defend
America LLC set forth in this Complaint.

14, On 6/1/15, I received another telephone call initiated with an artificial or pre-recorded voice.
After answering a series of questions, the interactive voice response system allowed me to speak
with a live sales representative. The sales representative said that they were offering a “free”
alarm system, but I would be required to pay Monitronics for an alarm monitoring contract. The
' representative said that the alarm system would be installed by “Alliance”. The representative
also admitted that they had called me at least once in the week prior to this call. The caller said
that I could call her back at (877) 323-1599. The caller claimed that the name of her company is

“General Electric Security Pro”.

www.classlawgroup.com
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15. The telephone number (877) 323-1599 was assigned to Comet Media, Inc. on the date of the
call.

16. Comet Media, Inc initiated the call on behalf of Alliance Security and Monitronics. Comet
Media, Inc. was acting as an agent of Alliance Security and Monitronics and within the scope of
its authority as agent.

17. On information and belief, Comet Media, Inc. initiated at least one other call on behalf of
Alliance Security and Monitronics, as their agent, between 5/24/16 and 5/30/16. The purpose of
the call was to sell me alarm monitoring services provided by Monitronics, using an alarm
system installed by Alliance Security.

18. On 6/25/15, 1 received another telephone call initiated with an artificial or pre-recorded
voice. The voice said that the company responsible for the calls is “Home Security Center”. In
truth, the call was initiated by Alliance Security and Monitronics, or on their behalf by someone
acting as their agent. The purpose of the call was to sell me alarm monitoring services.

19. On 7/7/15, 1 received another telephone call initiated with an artificial or pre-recorded voice.
The voice said that they would be “in my area” to install “free” alarm systems. I asked what
company the caller represents, and a representative said “Home Security Center”. I asked for a
number to call the company back at, and the representative said they could not accept incoming
calls. The representative offered to call me at another time, and I said no, don’t do that. I said I
wanted to speak to a specialist. 1 was transferred to another representative. The representative
said that in order to receive the “free” alarm system, I must pay for an alarm monitoring contract.
The purpose of the call was to sell me alarm monitoring services. I asked what company the

salesperson represents. He said that Monitronics is the alarm monitoring company. I asked if

5
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that is the company who he represents. The salesperson seemed unsure and said that the call was
“a joint effort of several companies”. I asked what company is responsible for the call, and the
salesperson hung up.

20. My caller ID showed that the call came from (435) 255-6595. That number was assigned to
Lucky 7, Inc. PH on the date of the call.

21. Lucky 7, Inc. PH initiated the call on behalf of Monitronics and Alliance Monitoring. Lucky
7, Inc. was acting as an agent of Alliance Security and Monitronics and within the scope of its
authority as agent.

22. On 8/10/15, 8/12/15, 1/20/16, 2/17/16, 2/18/16, 2/24/16, 3/4/16, 3/23/16, 4/16/16, 8/6/16,
8/9/16, 8/11/16, 8/13/16, 8/25/16, 9/7/16, 9/26/16, and 10/3/16, I received calls by or on behalf
of Monitronics and Alliance Monitoring the purpose of which was to sell me alarm monitoring
services.

23. The 8/12/15, 2/17/16, 2/18/16, 3/4/16, 3/23/16, 4/16/16, 8/9/16, 8/25/16, 9/26/16, and
10/3/16 calls were initiated with an artificial or prerecorded voice.

24, During the 2/17/16, 3/4/16, and 8/9/16 calls, the caller claimed that the name of the company
that initiated the call is “Home Security Center”.

25. During the 2/18/16, 3/23/16, and 4/16/16 calls, the caller claimed that the name of the
company that initiated the call is “Home Protection Services”.

26. During the 8/11/16 call, the caller claimed that the name of the company that initiated the call
is “Security Solutions”.

27. During the 10/3/16 call, the caller claimed that the name of the company that initiated the call

is “GE Home Security”.

www.classlawgroup.com
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28. During the 10/3/16 call, I agreed to schedule a time for someone to come to my residence to
discuss installing a home security system. The cost of the alarm monitoring would be $49.99 per
month for five years. After I agreed to schedule an appointment, I received calls confirming that
Monitronics would provide the monitoring service and that Alliance Security would do the
installation.

29. On 10/5/16, 1 receive& a prerecorded call by or on behalf of Monitronics and Alliance
Monitoring the purpose of which was to sell me alarm monitoring services. Although a business
relationship was established during the 10/3/16 call, I did not consent to receive calls initiated
with an artificial or prerecorded voice. Thus the call violated 47 U.S.C. § 227(b) and 47 C.F.R. §
64.1200(a)(3). After the prerecorded message, I talked to a live sales representative. The
company that initiated this call was different than the company that initiated the 10/3/16 call.
The sales representative was unaware of the 10/3/16 call and the prior scheduled appointment
and offered alarm monitoring services for $45 per month. The caller said that Monitronics
would provide the alarm monitoring service and that Alliance Security would do the installation.
1 agreed to schedule an appointment.

30. On 10/7/16, an installer came to my residence. The installer was carrying a lawn sign that
said “alliancesecurity.com 1-877-7GO-ALLY” and a security system manufactured by 2 Gig
Technologies. 1 asked to see a copy of the written contract. The installer said that he did not
have a copy of the written contract and that he could not give me a copy of the contract until
after the installation was done. He said that the contract would be emailed to me after the
installation. I told him that I would not let him proceed any further until I see a copy of the

written contract. The installer said he would try to pull up a copy of the written contract on his

7
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tablet computer, but he could not give me a copy or email it to me until afer the installation.
However, the installer had a very difficult time pulling up a copy of the contract on his tablet.
The installer called several people for assistance. Afier at least twenty minutes, the installer was
able to get a copy of the written contract for me to read on the tablet. At the top of the contract
appeared “Alliance Security” as the party offering the contract. I told the installer that I wanted a
copy of the contract to be emailed to me prior to doing installation. The installer was unable to
do that. I told the installer that the experience made me uncomfortable with proceeding further
and ended the appointment.

31. Subsequently, a sales representative called me and agreed to email me a copy of the written
contract. On 11/18/16, the sales representative emailed me the contract. From the email, it is
clear that the sales representative spoke to someone at Alliance Security to obtain the contract.
The contract indicates that agreement is between Alliance Security and the home owner.

32. On 11/19/16, I sent an email to Alliance Security demanding that my number 5139471695 be
put on their Do Not Call list. Thus, any business relationship that existed by virtue of scheduling
an appointment on 10/3/16 was explicitly terminated.

33. On 11/21/16, I received a reply back from Alliance Security saying that my number had been
added to their Do Not Call list, but claiming that they did not see any sales calls associated with
my number. I replied back that my Do Not Call request “also applies to all your agents,
representatives, vendors, contractors, and so forth, anyone whe makes calls on your behalf.”
Alliance Security replied back on 11/21/16 saying that all of Alliance Security’s “dealers or lead
providers” would receive my Do Not Call request, but that it would take “up to 72 hours to

process.”
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34. Nevertheless, the calls resumed. On 12/12/16 and 2/1/17, I received a call by or on behalf of
Monitronics and Alliance Security, the purpose of which was to sell me alarm monitoring
services.

35. On 3/16/17, I received a call by or on behalf of Monitronics and Alliance Security, the
purpose of which was to sell me alarm monitoring services. My caller ID indicated that the call
came from 513-734-5004. The call was initiated with an artificial or prerecorded voice. After
listening to the prerecorded message, I spoke to a sales representative. The sales representative
said that the company initiating the call is “GE Security Pros” and offered alarm monitoring
service by Monitronics for $44.95 per month and said that Alliance Security would do the
installation. I asked him if his company is a division of General Electric and he said that it is.
The representative attempted to get me to schedule an appointment to do an installation but I
refused. The representative offered to call me back later, and I said no, instead of you calling
me, I will call you if I am interested.

36. In truth, the company claiming to be “GE Security Pros” is not a division of General Electric
and does not have the permission of General Electric to represent itself as part of General
Electric.

37. 1 received more calls from 513-734-5004 on 3/20, 3/23 twice, 3/24, 3/29, 4/4, 4/5, and 4/6
twice of 2017.

38. I got so fed up with the calls that on 4/6/17 I changed the outgoing message on my telephone
answering machine to give an explicit Do Not Call request. The outgoing message was changed

to the following:
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You have reached the residential telephone line of Vincent Lucas. If you are

cailing to make a telephone solicitation, put this number on your Do Not Call list.

This machine will start recording at the tone.
39. Nevertheless, the calls continued. In fact the call frequency seemed to intensify after I added
an explicit Do Not Call request to my answering machine outgoing message. I received calls
from 513-734-5004 on 4/7, four times on 4/11, 4/14, 4/18, 4/19, 4/20, 4/21, 4/25, 4/27, and three
times on 5/3 of 2017. All these calls, except the last one on 5/3 were answered by my answering
machine,
40. During the last call on 5/3, I picked up the phone, said .hello several times, received no
response from the caller, and hung up the phone after around twenty seconds.
41. All of the calls from 513-734-5004 were made by or on behalf of Monitronics and Alliance
Security in order to sell me alarm monitoring services.
42. To the extent that the calls described herein were not made directly by Monitronics, Alliance
Security, Defend America, Comet Media, and Lucky 7 Inc., the calls were initiated by
companies whose true identity is unknown. The complaint will be amended when the identity of
the callers is known.
63. The illegal telemarketing calls caused actual injury to me. Among other things, listening to
the calls wasted my time. That time could have been used instead to earn money at my
occupation.

64. The Defendants’ violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4719 caused me actual injury due to time and

expense in trying to determine the identity of the caller.
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CAUSES OF ACTION

VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL TELEPHONE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT ("TCPA")
AND OHIO TELEPHONE SOLICITATION ACT

65. Each call I received described in the preceding telegraphs was a telephone solicitation.
66. Each Defendant willfully violated the Federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act and Ohio
Telephone Solicitation Act by the actions described in the proceeding paragraphs. Namely,
¢ the calls were made to a number listed on the national Do Not Call registry (47 U.S.C. §
227(c)); and
e the calls were made by an entity that is not registered as a telemarketer in Ohio (Ohio
Rev. Code 4719.02).
However, calls made after the 10/3/2016 call but before 11/19/2016 do not violate the Do Not
Call registry regulations.
67. Each call initiated using an artificial or pre-recorded voice also violated 47 U.S.C. § 227(b).
68. None of the Defendants have implemented, with due care, reasonable practices and
procedures to effectively prevent telephone solicitations in violation of the regulations prescribed

under 47 U.S.C. § 227(c).

VIOLATION OF THE OHIO CONSUMER SALES PRACTICES ACT (“OCSPA”)

69. Each call was a solicitation to sell me goods or services for purposes that are primarily

household or family in nature.

11
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70. Each Defendant was a “supplier” of a “consumer transaction” under Ohio Rev. Code §
1345.01.

71. Each call was an unfair act or practice under Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02(A). Each call was
made by an entity that is not registered as a telemarketer under Ohio Rev. Code § 4719.02.

72. Each call made using an artificial or prerecorded voice contained an additional unfair or
deceptive trade practice under Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02(A) and 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(v).

73. On information and belief, “Home Security Center”, “GE Security Pros”, “Home Protection
Services”, “Security Solutions”, and “GE Home Security” are not the true names of the
companies that initiated any of the calls to me.

74. Every call which I answered or in which a message was left on my answering machine, in
which the caller either did not identify the company that initiated the call (including calls where
the caller provided a fictitious name for the company) contains an additional violation of the
OCSPA. Ohio Rev. Code § 4719.06(A)(1) and 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(d)(1).

75. Every call after my explicit Do Not Call request on 11/21/2016 contains an additional
violation of the OCSPA.

76. One cai] on 5/3/17 contained an additional OCSPA violation because the caller performed
an act declared to be an abusive telemarketing act by the federal Telephone Sales Rule (“TSR”)
at 16 C.F.R. 310.4(b)(1)(iv). Namely, after | answered the call, the telemarketer did not connect
me to a sales representative within two seconds of the person’s greeting. See Burdge v. Satellite
System Network, PIF No. 2344, placed in the PIF on 5/12/05, declaring that a violation of any

regulation within the TSR by a supplier is an unfair and deceptive act in violation of the OCSPA.

12
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77. Each call in which the caller said the company initiating the call is “GE Security Pros”,
“General Electric Security Pros”, or “GE Home Security” contains an additional QCSPA
violation because the caller falsely claimed that it is affiliated with General Electric. Ohio Rev.
Code § 1345.02(B)(9).

78. Alliance Security committed an unfair or deceptive trade practice by attempting to perform
an alarm installation without providing upon demand a written copy of the contract prior to

performing the instatlation.

PATTERN OF CORRUPT ACTIVITY IN VIOLATION OF
OHIO REV. CODE §§ 2923.31 - .34

79. Each Defendant committed a pattern of corrupt activity under Ohio Rev. Code § 2923.32.

80. Any violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 4719.02, 4719.05, or 4719.06; division (C), (D), or (E) of
§ 4719.07; § 4719.08; or § 4719.09(A) is a corrupt activity under Ohio Rev. Code §
2923.31(I)(2)(a) and § 2923.32.

INVASION OF PRIVACY

81. The persistent, unwanted telephone calls made by, or on behalf of, the Defendants as
described herein invaded my right to privacy by unreasonable intrusion into the solitude and

seclusion of my home,

LIABILITY OF MONITRONICS AND ALLIANCE SECURITY FOR ACTIONS OF AGENTS

Agency by actual authority

13
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82. Each call not made directly by Monitronics or Alliance Security was made by an agent of
Monitronics and Alliance Security acting within the scope of its appointment as agent. Under
the terms of the agency appointment, the agent was appointed to act on the principal’s behalf and
subject to the principal’s control.

83. Monitronics and Alliance Security authorized its agents to make telephone calls under
circumstances in which such calls violate 47 U.S.C. § 227 and the Ohio Consumer Sales
Practices Act.

84. Monitronics and Alliance Security knew that its agents were not registered as telephone
solicitors in Ohio as required by Ohio Rev. Code § 4719, but nevertheless authorized them to
make telephone solicitations to Ohioans.

Agency by apparent authority

85. I formed a reasonable belief that each agent had authority to act on behalf of Monitronics and
Alliance Security as its agent, and was acting within the scope of that authority, based on the
actions of Monitronics and Alliance Security, including but not limited to the following:
Monitronics and Alliance Security gave the agents permission to hold themselves out as
authorized dealers or sales representatives of Monitronics and Alliance Security; Monitronics
and/or Alliance Security gave the agents access to their sales and scheduling systems.
Agency by ratification

86. Monitronics and Alliance Security were aware that each agent was making telephone
solicitations under circumstances in which such call violate 47 U.S.C. 227 and the Ohio

Consumer Sales Practices Act.

14
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87. While having this knowledge, Monitronics and Alliance Security failed to terminate their
relationship with the agents, and instead willfully continued to receive the benefits of the agent’s
unlawful telemarketing calls.

Liability
88. Monitronics and Alliance Security are liable for the actions of its agents.
89. Monitronics and Alliance Security are also liable because they were negligent in failing to
supervise or otherwise control the actions of their agents.
90. Monitronics and Alliance Security are also liable because they delegated to their agents their
duty to use due care to protect my right to privacy under telemarketing law and their agents
failed to perform that duty.

CIVIL CONSPIRACY TO CAUSE TORTIOUS INJURY

91. Monitronics, Alliance Security, and their sales agents and dealers entered into an agreement
with each other for the purpose of deriving profit by intentionally causing injury to Ohioans by
making telephone calls that invade the call recipient’s right to privacy by unreasonable intrusion.
The actions described in this Complaint were performed in accordance with that agreement. As a
result of foilowing that agreement, Monitronics, Alliance Security, and their sales agents and

dealers intentionally and maliciously caused injury to the recipients of their calls.

CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH JUSTIFY TREBLE AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES

92. The Defendants performed the actions described in the preceding paragraphs willfully and

knowing that the actions violate the TCPA and Ohio law. The Defendants performed these

15
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actions with the purpose of deriving profit from causing tortious injury, namely invading my
right to privacy, and the Defendants should have reasonably expected that their actions would
cause this injury. The Defendants performed these actions with willful, reckless disregard of my

rights, and hence the actions demonstrate malice.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff asks that the Court grant him all the following relief:

1. Award the Plaintiff $1500 for each violation of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b), $1500 for each call which
violated 47 U.S.C. § 227(c), and $200 for each violation of Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.02. See 47
U.S.C. § 227(b)(3), § 227(c)(5), Ohio Rev. Code § 1345.09(B), and Charvat v. NMP, LLC, 656
F.3d 440, 448452 (6th Cir 2011).

Monitronics and Alliance Security are jointly and severally liable for each call.

Defend America, Monitronics and Alliance Security are jointly and severally liable for
each call initiated by Defend America. Lucky 7 Inc., Monitronics and Alliance Security are
jointly and severally liable for each call initiated by Lucky 7 Inc. Comet Media, Monitronics and
Alliance Security are jointly and severally liable for each call initiated by Comet Media.

2. Declaratory judgment that performing an alarm installation without providing a written copy
of the alarm service contract prior to performing the installation is an unfair or deceptive trade
practice under the OCSPA.

3. Pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 2923.34(B), enter an appropriate order to ensure that the
violation of § 2923.32 will not continue or be repeated.

4. Pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 2923.34(E), treble any actual damages.
16
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5. Issue a permanent injunction prohibiting each Defendant from violating 47 U.S.C. § 227, Ohio
Rev. Code § 1345, and Ohio Rev. Code § 4719.
6. Award the Plaintiff costs, attorney fees, and interest.

7. Such further relief as may be appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

Hh

(74

Vincent Lucas

P.O.Box 272

Amelia, OH 45102
(513)947-1695
vincentlucaslegal@gmail.com
Plaintiff
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